COMMAND SECURITY CORP Form 10-K June 28, 2012	
UNITED STATES	
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION	
Washington, D.C. 20549	
FORM 10-K	
x ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) O 1934	F THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012	
or	
"TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(ACT OF 1934	d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
For the transition period from to	
Commission File Number: 001-33525	
Command Security Corporation (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	
New York (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	14-1626307 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
1133 Route 55, Suite D, Lagrangeville, New York	12540

(Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive offices)

Registrant's teleph	one number, inclu	uding area code:	(845) 454-3703

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value \$0.0001 per share NYSE MKT

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes." No x

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes "No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files.) Yes x No "

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer" and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer " Accelerated filer " Non-accelerated filer " Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes "No x

The aggregate market value of the registrant's voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant was \$14,455,222 as of September 30, 2011. The closing price of the registrant's common stock on September 30, 2011, as reported on the NYSE MKT, was \$1.71 per share.

In determining the market value of the voting or non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant, securities of the registrant beneficially owned by the directors and officers of the registrant have been excluded. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.

There were 9,666,498 outstanding shares of the registrant's common stock as of June 8, 2012.

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Certain information required by Items 5, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Form 10-K is incorporated by reference into Parts II and III hereof from the registrant's definitive proxy statement relating to the registrant's 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which is expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") within 120 days of the close of the registrant's fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

# **Command Security Corporation**

# **Annual Report on Form 10-K**

# For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2012

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
PART I	
Item 1. Business	2 - 5
Item 1A. Risk Factors	5 - 9
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments	9
Item 2. Properties	9 - 11
Item 3. Legal Proceedings	11
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures	11
PART II	
Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	12 - 13
Item 6. Selected Financial Data	13
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	13 - 19
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	20
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	20
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	20
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures	20
Item 9B. Other Information	20
PART III	

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	21
Item 11. Executive Compensation	21
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	21
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	21
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services	21
PART IV	
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	22
Signatures	23
1	
1	

<b>PART</b>	T
1 1111	1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

#### General

Command Security Corporation (the "Company," or "we") was incorporated in New York in 1980 and principally provides uniformed security officers, aviation security services and support security services to commercial, financial, industrial, aviation and governmental customers throughout the United States. We provide our security services to our customers through our security, aviation and support services divisions.

The security services division provides security services to governmental, quasi-governmental and financial institutions, healthcare facilities, colleges and universities, residential communities, commercial real estate, and industrial, distribution, logistics and retail customers. Our security services include providing armed and unarmed uniformed security personnel for access control, mobile patrols, traffic control, security console/system operators and fire safety directors, as well as providing personnel for communication, reception, concierge and front desk/doorman operations. The security services division generated approximately \$84.9 million, or 60.0% of our total revenues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

The aviation services division provides aviation security services to more than 100 domestic and international airlines, airports, airport authorities and the general aviation community at approximately twenty international airports and five regional airports. Our aviation security division provides a variety of uniformed services for domestic and international air carriers, including security for airlines, aircraft, passengers and cargo; baggage screening, wheelchair escort services featuring the Company's proprietary SmartWheelm technology, special escort services and skycap services. The aviation services division generated approximately \$56.4 million, or 39.9% of our total revenues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

The support services division provides support services to other security services firms and police departments, including providing back office support services under administrative service agreements. The support services division generated approximately \$0.2 million, or 0.1% of our revenues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

#### **Operations**

As a licensed watch guard and patrol agency, our security services division provides security officers to our customers to protect people and property; prevent the theft of property; and deter, observe, detect and report security threats. We conduct our security services business principally by providing security officers and other personnel who are, depending on the particular requirements of the customer, uniformed or plain-clothed, armed or unarmed, and who patrol in marked radio cars or stand duty on the premises at stationary posts such as fire stations, reception areas or video monitors. Our security officers maintain contact with their headquarters or supervisors via car radio, hand-held radios or cell phones. In addition to the more traditional tasks associated with access control and theft prevention, our security officers respond to emergency situations and report fires, natural disasters, work accidents and medical crises to the appropriate authorities. We provide security officer services to many of our industrial, commercial and residential property management customers on a 24-hours a day basis, 365 days per year. For these customers, security officers are on hand to provide plant security, access control, personnel security checks and traffic and parking control and to protect against fire, theft, sabotage and safety hazards. Our other customers include retail establishments, hospitals and government facilities. We also provide specialized vehicle patrol and inspection services.

Our aviation services division provides a variety of uniformed services for domestic and international air carriers, including aircraft security, access control, wheelchair escorts, skycaps, baggage handlers and uniformed security officers for cargo security areas. Since September 11, 2001, the Department of Homeland Security and the Transportation Security Administration have implemented numerous security measures that affect airline operations, including expanded cargo and baggage screening, and are likely to implement additional measures in the future. Additional measures taken to enhance either passenger or cargo security procedures in the future may increase the airline industry's demand for third party services provided by us.

Our operations are divided into five geographical regions, each of which is managed by a vice president/general manager responsible for developing and executing our regional business plan based on the demand, needs and competition in our regional markets. While each regional business plan is based on our overall corporate strategy, our regional general managers evaluate and recommend programs and initiatives designed to build success in their particular regional markets. The primary mission of the regional general manager is to follow through on our focus on customer service to ensure that customer expectations are being met. They also are expected to manage the growth and profitability of their regions' operations. We have approximately 35 offices and operate throughout the United States, including in Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin and Wyoming. We frequently establish offices close to our customers and delegate responsibility and decision-making authority to our local managers to ensure customer satisfaction. Our managers have ongoing contact with our customers so they can promptly and effectively anticipate and respond to the needs of customers and security officers. Our managers play an important role in maintaining service quality and assisting with sales and marketing efforts. We believe that, in most situations, providing a single individual with responsibility for the customer relationship results in better supervision, quality control and greater responsiveness to customer needs. Our sales and marketing efforts are designed to focus on customers located primarily in urban centers and other concentrated business districts in major metropolitan areas and select suburban areas with a high density of businesses.

We generally render our security services pursuant to a standard form security services agreement that specifies the personnel and/or equipment to be provided by us at one or more designated locations and the applicable payment rates, which typically are hourly rates per person. Our rates vary depending on whether our services are provided during normal business hours, overtime or during holidays, as well as the length of time for which we are being engaged. We assume responsibility for a variety of functions, including scheduling of our personnel for each customer site, paying all security officers and providing uniforms, training, equipment, supervision, fringe benefits and workers' compensation insurance. These security services agreements also provide our customers with flexibility by permitting reduction or expansion of the security force on relatively short notice by our customers. We are responsible for preventing the interruption of security services as a consequence of illness, vacations or resignations of our security officers. In most cases our customers also agree not to directly hire any of our security personnel for at least 180 days after the termination of their engagement with us. Each security services agreement may be terminated by our customer or us, typically upon not less than thirty days prior written notice. We may also terminate an agreement immediately upon default by the customer in payment of our fees, or if the customer is involved in a bankruptcy or similar insolvency event.

To ensure that adequate security requirements have been established prior to commencing service to a customer, we conduct a comprehensive security assessment of the customer's site and prepare recommendations for any required changes to existing security programs or services. Site assessments typically include an examination and evaluation of perimeter controls, lighting, personnel and vehicle identification and electronic access control, visitor controls, electronic alarm reporting systems, safety and emergency procedures, key controls, radio/surveillance systems and security force manning levels. While we prepare site assessments and issue recommendations, the security plan and coverage requirements are ultimately determined by our customers.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information. In particular, we depend on our information technology infrastructure for electronic communications among our locations around the country and between our personnel and our customers and suppliers. We use sophisticated electronic security and access control equipment, including computerized watchkey systems and video surveillance equipment. Electronic accountability technology logs officer patrols and generates user-friendly reports for customer and internal use.

We use technology to support efficiency, accuracy, and dependability in our administrative functions. Scheduling, payroll, billing, training, inventory and e-procurement are integrated through a third party vendor software platform. This software platform is used to provide financial, labor and operations management services to all of our customers.

#### **Employee Recruitment and Training**

We believe that the high quality of our security officers is essential to our ability to offer effective and reliable services to our customers. We encourage the retention of our security officers and seek to control our operating costs

through effective management of the hiring process, including extensive candidate screening, training and development. We require all applicants for security officer positions to undergo a detailed pre-employment interview and a background investigation covering such areas as past employment, education, military service, medical history and, subject to applicable state laws, criminal and other background searches. Employees are selected based on a number of criteria, including physical fitness, maturity, experience, personality, perceived stability and reliability, among others. We frequently conduct medical examinations and substance abuse testing on potential candidates, subject to applicable laws and regulations. Our security officers and other personnel supplied to our customers are employees of our company, even though they may be stationed regularly at our customer's facilities.

We are committed to ensuring that our staff not only meet all state and federal requirements for training, but also our own rigorous standards in specialized areas including: terrorism response, CPR, first-aid, fire safety, crowd and riot control, media interaction, public relations, crisis management and emergency situations. Additionally, we provide our employees with site-specific training to meet the needs of individual industries, facilities and customers.

We train accepted applicants in three phases: pre-assignment, on-the-job and refresher training. Pre-assignment training covers topics such as the duties and powers of a security officer, report preparation, emergency procedures, general orders, regulations, grounds for discharge, uniforms, personal appearance and basic post responsibilities. On-the-job assignment training covers specific duties as required by the post and job orders. Ongoing refresher training is provided periodically as determined by the local area supervisor and manager.

We are an equal opportunity employer and make all employment-related decisions without regard to race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disability, marital status or sexual orientation.

#### **Significant Customers**

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we generated revenues of approximately \$34,412,000 from services we provided to Federal Express ("FedEx"), which represented approximately 24% of our total revenues during such period. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Financing."

The aviation industry continues to face various financial and other challenges, including the cost of security and higher fuel prices. On November 29, 2011, the AMR Corporation, the parent company of American Airlines ("AMR"), filed a voluntary petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. AMR's filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection did not have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations and we are continuing to operate under the original contract between the Company and American Airlines. However, additional bankruptcy filings by aviation and non-aviation customers could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 10 Concentrations of Credit Risk," and "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 11 Significant Customers."

#### Competition

The contract security officer segment of the security services business is highly competitive, labor intensive and substantially affected by the cost of labor and by the availability of qualified personnel. Our ability to provide the required number of competent, trained personnel in a timely manner is critical to retaining our business, containing payroll costs and avoiding undue insurance exposure. To meet these goals, we strive to successfully manage our human resources needs through manpower planning, quality control and risk management, while focusing on financial management and effective sales and marketing strategies.

Although most of our contracts may be terminated by us or by our customers at our or their discretion, we minimize customer attrition by adhering to basic performance standards in meeting essential customer requirements. While all security service companies experience customer attrition, we have historically been successful in renewing contracts with existing customers.

We believe that a customer's selection of a company to provide security services is based primarily on price, quality of services provided, scope of services performed, name recognition, recruiting, training, the extent and quality of

security officer supervision and the ability to handle multiple worksites on a nationwide basis. It has become more common for our customers to select security service providers through competitive bid processes intended to procure quality services at lower prices. Some of our competitors may be willing to provide services at lower prices, accept a lower profit margin or expend more capital in order to obtain or retain business. As we have expanded our operations, we have had to compete more frequently against larger national companies, such as Securitas North America, G4S Secure Solutions (USA), AlliedBarton Security and Guardsmark, LLC, all which have substantially greater financial and other resources, personnel and facilities than us. These competitors also offer a range of security and investigative services that are at least as extensive as, and directly competitive with, the services that we offer. In addition, we compete with many regional and local organizations that offer substantially all of the services that we offer to our customers and that may have better knowledge of the local conditions in their regions and increased local visibility, which may provide such companies with a competitive edge. Our management believes that we have been able to successfully compete on the basis of the quality of our services, our personal relationships with our customers and our reputation. Particularly with respect to certain of our markets, management believes we enjoy a favorable competitive position because of our emphasis on customer service, supervision and training. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to effectively compete with other companies, particularly those having greater financial and other resources, personnel and facilities. See "Risk Factors—Competition."

#### **Government Regulation**

We are subject to a large number of city, county and state firearm and occupational licensing laws and regulations that apply to security officers and private investigators. In addition, many states have laws requiring training and registration of security officers, regulating the use of badges and uniforms, prescribing the use of identification cards or badges, and imposing minimum bond, surety or insurance standards. As required, we are licensed to provide private security services in each of the states in which we do business. We may incur penalties and fines as the result of licensing irregularities or the misconduct of one of our security officers from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. However, our management believes we are in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. See "Risk Factors—Regulation."

#### **Employees**

Our business is labor intensive and is consequently affected by the availability of qualified personnel and the cost of labor. Although the security services industry is characterized by high turnover, we have not experienced any material difficulty in hiring qualified security officers. In some cases, when labor has been in short supply, we have been required to pay higher wages and/or incur overtime charges. We have approximately 5,100 total employees, including 4,200 full-time employees, the majority of whom are hourly service workers, and approximately 215 of whom serve as managers, administrative employees and executives in 35 offices nationwide.

Approximately 80% of our employees do not belong to a labor union. The balance of our employees are members of labor unions including, in particular, a number of employees based in our New York City security services office and at our airport offices at John F. Kennedy International and LaGuardia airports. Our unionized employees work under collective bargaining agreements with the following unions: Allied International Union, Allied Services Division of the Transportation Communications International Union and Special & Superior Officers Benevolent Association. In the past, our employees at Los Angeles International Airport worked under a collective bargaining agreement with a local uncertified union. On December 30, 2011, we terminated that collective bargaining agreement in accordance with the majority vote of the subject employees. The union has attempted to overturn the termination before the National Mediation Board and to date such efforts have been unsuccessful. Many of our competitors' employees in New York City are also unionized. Our relations with our employees are satisfactory, and we have not experienced any work stoppages as a result of labor disputes.

#### **Intellectual Property**

We own the service marks "Command Security Corporation," "CSC" and the "CSC Plus" design for security officer, detective, private investigation services and security consulting services. We also own the service marks "STAIRS" and "Smart Guard."

We own the trademarks "Smartwheel" and "Smart Tracker" for the computer programs we use in dispatching and tracking small vehicles, such as carts and wheelchairs at transportation terminals. The "Smartwheel" trademark was acquired as part our acquisition of United Security Group, Inc.

#### ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

In addition to the other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, you should carefully consider the following factors that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and future operating results. The risks described below are not the only risks facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.

#### **Airline Industry Concerns**

Several of our airline customers filed for protection from their creditors under applicable bankruptcy and similar laws in recent years. Airline operations are impacted by general economic and industry conditions. The airline industry

may undergo further bankruptcy restructuring, industry consolidation, or the creation or modification of alliances or joint ventures, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition.

#### **Acquisitions**

Part of our growth strategy involves seeking to acquire other successful security services companies. Our acquisition strategy entails numerous risks. The pursuit of acquisition candidates is expensive and may not be successful. Our ability to complete future acquisitions will depend on our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptable terms for their acquisition and, if necessary, finance those acquisitions, in each case, before any attractive candidates are purchased by other parties, some of whom have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have. Whether or not any particular acquisition is successfully completed, each of these activities is expensive and time consuming and would likely require our management to spend considerable time and effort to complete, which would detract from our management's ability to run our current business. Although we may spend considerable funds and efforts to pursue acquisitions, we may not be able to complete them.

Acquisitions could result in the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

dilutive issuances of equity securities;
incurrence of additional debt and contingent liabilities;
increased amortization expenses related to intangible assets;
difficulties in the assimilation of the operations, technologies, services and products of the acquired companies; and diversion of management's attention from our other business activities.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to complete acquisitions that we believe are necessary to complement our growth strategy on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, if we do not successfully integrate the operations of any companies that we have acquired or subsequently acquire, we may not achieve the potential benefits of such acquisitions.

#### **Additional Financing**

We believe that our existing funds, cash generated from operations, and existing sources of and access to financing are adequate to satisfy our working capital, capital expenditures and debt service requirements for the foreseeable future. However, we cannot assure you that this will be the case, and we may be required to obtain additional financing to maintain and expand our existing operations through the sale of our securities, an increase in borrowings under our credit facilities or otherwise. The failure by us to obtain such financing, if needed, would have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Credit and Security Agreement**

Our Credit and Security Agreement contains covenants that impose operating and financial restrictions on us, which may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities and taking certain corporate actions. These restrictions may limit our ability to:

guarantee additional indebtedness;
pay dividends and make distributions;
make certain investments;
repurchase stock;
incur liens;
transfer or sell assets;
enter into sale and leaseback transactions;
merge or consolidate; and
engage in a materially different line of business.

The limits set forth in these covenants may adversely affect our ability to finance future operations or capital needs.

### Competition

Our assumptions regarding projected results depend largely upon our ability to retain substantially all of our current customers and obtain new customers. Retention is affected by several factors including, but not limited to, regulatory limitations, the quality of the services that we provide, the quality and pricing of comparable services offered by competitors and continuity of our management and non-management personnel. The contract security officer industry is intensely competitive. There are several major national competitors with substantially greater financial and other resources than we have and that, therefore, have the ability to provide more attractive service, cost and compensation incentives to customers and employees than we are able to provide. We also compete with smaller local and regional companies whose familiarity with local markets gives them a competitive advantage. There can be no assurance that we will continue to retain customer accounts at historic levels in an increasingly competitive market. In addition, there can be no assurance that we will be able to acquire new customer accounts and retain existing customer accounts on terms as favorable as those previously available, and if we are unable to do so our profitability will be adversely affected.

#### **Indemnification Obligations**

In many cases, our security and aviation services contracts require us to indemnify our customers or may otherwise subject us to additional liability for events occurring on customer premises. While we maintain insurance programs that we believe provide appropriate coverage for certain liability risks, including personal injury, death and property damage, the laws of many states limit or prohibit insurance coverage for punitive damages arising from willful or grossly negligent conduct. Therefore, insurance may not be adequate to cover all potential claims or damages. If a plaintiff brings a successful claim against us for punitive damages in excess of our insurance coverage, then we could incur substantial liabilities that would have a material adverse affect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Staffing**

Our business involves the labor-intensive delivery of security and aviation services. We derive our revenues primarily from services rendered by our hourly employees. Our future performance depends in large part upon our ability to attract, train, motivate and retain our skilled operational and administrative staff. The loss of the services of, or the failure to recruit, the required complement of operational and administrative staff would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, including our ability to secure and complete security service contracts. Additionally, if we do not successfully manage our existing operational and administrative staff, we may not be able to achieve the anticipated gross margins, service quality, overtime levels and other performance measures that are important to our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Professional Reputation**

We depend to a large extent on our relationships with our customers and our reputation for quality contract security services. Our customers' expectations and perception of the quality of our services are in large part determined by the satisfaction they derive from contact with our managers. A well-publicized security incident or breach at one or more of our customers' locations could result in a negative perception of our services, damage to our reputation and the loss of existing or potential customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Changes in Accounting Standards and Taxation Requirements**

New accounting standards or pronouncements that become applicable to us and our financial statements from time to time, and changes in the interpretation of existing standards and pronouncements, could have a significant effect on our reported results for the affected periods. We are also subject to income and various other taxes in the numerous jurisdictions where we generate revenues. Increases in income or other tax rates or bases could reduce our after-tax results from affected jurisdictions in which we operate.

#### **Collective Bargaining Agreements and Organized Labor Action**

Many of our employees at our operating locations are covered by collective bargaining agreements. If we are unable to renew such agreements on satisfactory terms, our labor costs could increase, which would negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The security industry has been the subject of campaigns to increase the number of unionized employees. In addition, strikes or work stoppages at our locations could impair our ability to provide required services to our customers, which would reduce our revenues and expose us to customer claims. Although we believe that our relations with our employees are satisfactory, we cannot assure you that organized labor action at one or more of our operating locations will not occur, or that any such activities, or any other labor difficulties at our operating locations, would not adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Cost Management**

Our largest expenses are for payroll and related taxes and employee benefits. Most of our service contracts provide for fixed hourly billing rates, and some of our service contracts provide for payments of either fixed fees or fees that increase by only small amounts during the terms of such service contracts. Competitive pressures in the security and aviation services industries may prevent us from increasing our hourly billing rates on contract anniversary or renewal dates. Our profitability will be adversely affected if, due to inflation, collective bargaining or other causes, including increases in statutory payroll taxes, we are compelled to increase the wages, salaries and related benefits of our employees in amounts that exceed the amount that we can pass on to our customers through increased billing rates charged under our service contracts.

Our ability to realize financial expectations will be largely dependent upon management's ability to maintain or increase gross margins, which in turn will be determined in large part by management's ability to control our expenses. However, to a significant extent, certain costs are not within the control of management, and margins may be adversely affected by a number of items, including litigation expenses, fees incurred in connection with extraordinary business transactions, inflation, labor unrest, increased payroll and related costs. Our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected if the costs associated with these items are greater than we anticipate.

#### **Collection of Accounts Receivable**

We extend credit to our customers primarily through the use of weekly billing due within 30 days of the invoice date. The aviation industry in general poses a high degree of customer credit risk. Any default in the payment of accounts receivable by one or more of our significant customers due to bankruptcy or otherwise could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, results of operations and financial condition. See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 10 Concentrations of Credit Risk."

#### **Loss of Customers**

Our success depends in part upon retaining our large security and aviation services customers, including FedEx. See "Business—Significant Customers." In general, security services companies such as ours face the risk of losing customers as a result of the expiration or termination of a contract, or as a result of a merger or acquisition or business failure involving our large customers, or the selection by such customers of another provider of security services. We generate a significant portion of our revenues from large security services and airline customers, some of which are experiencing substantial financial difficulties. We cannot assure you that we will be able to retain all or a substantial portion of our long-term or significant customers or develop relationships with new significant customers in the future.

Our standard customer contract is a one-year contract that may be terminated by either us or our customer on 30 days' written notice at any time. We serve certain of our customers under month-to-month extensions of these written contracts. If we are not able to maintain our existing security service contracts or obtain additional security service contracts, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

#### **Significant Customer**

We rely on FedEx for a significant portion of our revenues. During Fiscal 2012, FedEx represented approximately 24% of our total revenues. Our net sales and operating income could fluctuate significantly due to the loss of, reduction of business with, or less favorable terms for FedEx. A reduction in business with FedEx, or a delay or default in payment by FedEx could materially harm our results of operations and liquidity.

#### **Loss of Key Management Personnel**

Our success depends to a significant extent upon the continuing efforts and abilities of our key executive officers and senior management personnel, several of whom have been with our company or have worked in our industry for decades. We have programs in place that have been designed to motivate, reward and retain such employees, including cash bonus and equity incentive plans. The loss or unavailability of any such key executives or senior management personnel, due to retirement, resignation or otherwise could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations if we are unable to attract and retain highly qualified

replacement personnel on a timely basis, or at all.

#### **Concentration of Stock Ownership**

Although none of our directors and officers has any agreement relating to the manner in which they will vote their shares of our common stock, such parties together own shares representing approximately 33% of the combined voting power of our outstanding common stock. The concentration of ownership among these shareholders could give them the power to influence the outcome of substantially all matters subject to a vote of our shareholders, including mergers, consolidations and the sale of all or substantially all of our assets. Such decisions may conflict with the interests of our other shareholders.

#### **Stock Price Volatility**

The stock markets have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations often have been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. The market price of our common stock may also fluctuate as a result of variations in our operating results. Due to the nature of our business, the market price of the common stock may fall in response to a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control, including: announcements of competitive developments by others; changes in estimates of our financial performance or changes in recommendations by securities analysts; any loss by us of a major customer; additions or departures of key management or other personnel; future sales of our common or preferred stock; acquisitions or strategic alliances by us or our competitors; our historical and anticipated operating results; quarterly fluctuations in our financial and operating results; volume fluctuations; changes in market valuations of other companies that operate in our business markets or industry sector; and general market and economic conditions. Accordingly, market fluctuations, as well as general economic, political and market conditions such as recessions and interest rate changes, may negatively impact the market price of our common stock.

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT and has low trading volumes compared to other companies traded on the NYSE MKT. Securities with low trading volumes are subject to greater volatility in price. We cannot predict how our common stock will trade in the future or the effect that trading volumes will have on our common stock price.

#### **Information Systems/Technology**

We are increasingly dependent on information technology networks and systems, including the Internet, to process, transmit and store electronic information. In particular, we depend on our information technology infrastructure for electronic communications among our locations around the country and between our personnel and our customers and suppliers. Security breaches of this infrastructure can create disruptions, shutdowns or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. If we are unable to prevent such breaches, our operations could be disrupted or we may

suffer financial damage or loss because of lost or misappropriated information.

Changes in technologies that provide alternatives to security officer services or that decrease the number of security officers required to effectively perform their services may decrease our customers' demand for our security officer services. In addition, if such technologies become available generally for use in the industry, these technologies may be proprietary in nature and not be available for use by us in servicing our customers. Even if these technologies are available for use by us, we may not be able to successfully integrate such technologies into our business or we may be less successful in doing so than our competitors or new entrants in the industry. A decrease in the demand for our security officer services or our inability to effectively utilize such technologies may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### Regulation

We are subject to a large number of city, county and state occupational licensing laws and regulations that apply to security officers. Any liability we may have from our failure to comply with these regulations may materially and adversely affect our business by restricting our operations and subjecting us to potential penalties. If the current regulation and federalization of pre-board screening and documentation verification services provided by us to airline customers is expanded into other areas such as general security and baggage handling at aviation facilities, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, we are subject to, among other laws and regulations, comprehensive U.S. occupational health and safety laws and regulations. Such laws and regulations may become more stringent and result in necessary modifications to our current practices and facilities. Any or all of these laws and regulations could force us to incur additional costs that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our operations at certain domestic airport locations are subject to audits by the relevant state or local government authorities, in connection with their evaluation of whether certain of our sales and services at such airports are subject to a regulatory fee. In the event of a dispute with any such regulatory authority, we could be subject to claims for fees, including penalties and interest, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 were signed into law in the U.S. This legislation expands health care coverage to many uninsured individuals and expands coverage to those already insured. The changes required by this legislation could cause us to incur additional healthcare and other costs. The costs of these provisions are expected to be funded by a variety of taxes and fees. Some of the taxes and fees, as well as certain health care changes required by these acts, are expected to result, directly or indirectly, in increased health care costs for us. It remains difficult to predict the cost impact of health care reform and at this time, we cannot quantify the extent of any long-term impact from the legislation or any potential changes to the legislation. There is no assurance that we will be able to absorb and/or pass through the costs of complying with such legislation in a manner that will not adversely impact our results of operations.

Our current and future operations may be subject to additional regulation as a result of, among other factors, new statutes and regulations and changes in the manner in which existing statutes and regulations are interpreted.

#### **Economic Downturn**

During economic declines, some decisions to implement security programs and install systems may be deferred or cancelled. In other cases, customers may increase their purchases of security systems because they fear more inventory shrinkage and theft will occur due to increasing economic need. We are not able to accurately predict to what extent an economic slowdown will decrease the demand for our services. If demand for our services decreases, our business, financial condition and results of operations will be adversely affected.

#### **Catastrophic Events**

We are exposed to potential claims resulting from the occurrence of catastrophic events, such as acts of terrorism, or based upon allegations that we failed to perform our services in accordance with contractual or industry standards. Our insurance coverage limits are currently \$7,000,000 per occurrence for non-aviation related business (with an additional excess umbrella policy of \$10,000,000) and \$30,000,000 per occurrence for aviation related business. We retain the risk for the first \$25,000 per occurrence on the non-aviation related policy that includes airport wheelchair and electric cart operations and \$5,000 on the aviation related policy (except \$25,000 for damage to aircraft and \$100,000 for skycap operations. The Terrorism Risk Insurance Act of 2002 established a program within the United States Department of the Treasury, under which the federal government and the insurance industry, share the risk of loss from future "acts of terrorism," as defined in such Act. We currently maintain additional insurance coverage for losses arising from "acts of terrorism" under our non-aviation related business policy. In addition, terrorist attacks could have a material adverse impact on us by increasing our insurance premium costs, making adequate insurance coverage unavailable or by requiring us to incur additional personnel costs as a result of compliance with expanded security rules and regulations.

#### **Strategic Initiatives**

Any strategic initiatives that we may undertake may not achieve the benefits anticipated and could result in additional unanticipated costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations. We regularly evaluate our existing operations, service capacity and business efficiencies and, as a result of such evaluations, we may undertake strategic initiatives within our businesses, including the recently announced consolidation of corporate offices and streamlining of our management structure. These strategic initiatives may involve higher costs or longer timetables than we anticipate and could result in substantial costs related to severance and other employee-related matters, litigation risks and expenses, and other costs. These strategic initiatives may not result in improvements in future financial performance. If we are unable to realize the benefits of any strategic initiatives or appropriately structure our businesses to meet market conditions, the strategic initiatives could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.

	ITEM 1B.	UNRESOL	VED STAFF	COMMENTS.
--	----------	---------	-----------	-----------

None.

#### ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

As of March 31, 2012, we did not own any real property. We occupy executive offices at Route 55, Lexington Park, Lagrangeville, New York, consisting of approximately 6,600 square feet with a base annual rental of \$109,095 under a five-year lease expiring September 30, 2013. We also lease office space at the following locations under long-term operating or short-term month-to-month leases:

#### Location

668 N. 44th Street 409 Camino Del Rio South

#300 Suite 100

Phoenix, AZ San Diego, CA

100 Wells Street

733-737 Ames Avenue

#2AB

Milpitas, CA

Hartford, CT

8929 South Sepulveda Boulevard 40 Richards Avenue

Suite 300 3rd Floor

Los Angeles, CA Norwalk, CT

Los Angeles World Airports Suite 208 Wilson Building

Terminal 2 & Tom Bradley International Terminal 3511 Silverside Road, Concord Plaza

Los Angeles, CA Wilmington, DE

2194 Edison Avenue

3333 South Congress Avenue

Suite K

Delray Beach, FL

San Leandro, CA

800 Virginia Avenue

2228 & 2230 South Fairview Avenue

Suite 53

Santa Ana, CA

Ft. Pierce, FL

5775 Blue Lagoon Drive JFK International Airport

Suite 310 175-01 Rockaway Boulevard

Miami, FL Jamaica, NY

9730 South Western Avenue 17 Battery Place

Evergreen Plaza Shopping Center Suite 223

Suite 237 New York, NY

Evergreen Park, IL

21 Cummings Park 720 Fifth Avenue

Suite 224 10<sup>th</sup> Floor

Woburn, MA New York, NY

1985 Main Street 388 Westchester Avenue

Springfield, MA Port Chester, NY

780 Elkridge Landing Road 265 Sunrise Highway

Suite 220 Suites 32 & 33

Linthicum Heights, MD Rockville Centre, NY

500 Forest Avenue 10121 SE Sunnyside Road

2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Suite 300

Portland, ME Clackamas, OR

Two International Plaza

310 Morris Avenue

Suite 242

Elizabeth, NJ

Philadelphia, PA

Pittsburgh International Airport

1280 Route 46

1000 Airport Boulevard

3<sup>rd</sup> Floor

Ticketing Level of the Landside Terminal Building

Parsippany, NJ

Pittsburgh, PA

1767 Morris Avenue 669 Elmwood Avenue

Suite 101, First Floor Suite B-4

Union, NJ Providence, RI

1250 Capital of Texas Highway South

52 Oswego Street

Building III, Suite 400

Baldwinsville, NY

Austin, TX

2144 Doubleday Avenue 4101 Chain Bridge Road

Ballston Spa, NY Fairfax, VA

1458 Main Street Seattle-Tacoma Int'l. Airport

Buffalo, NY 17801 International Boulevard

LaGuardia Airport Main Terminal Building

United Hangar #2, Rooms 328 & 329 Room MT3469B

Flushing, NY Seattle, WA

We believe our existing properties are in good condition and are suitable for the conduct of our business.

#### ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are party to a variety of legal proceedings arising out of the conduct of our business. While the results of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that, except as described below, the final outcome of these proceedings will not have a material affect on our business.

On May 3, 2011 a purported class action complaint was filed in Orange County, California, Superior Court against the Company seeking to represent a class of past and present employees of the Company employed as security guards in the State of California since May 2, 2007. The complaint alleges meal and rest period and paycheck information violations, but does not raise any overtime claims. The Company intends to conduct a vigorous defense of this case. On April 10, 2012, the Court granted the Company's motion to compel the single named plaintiff to arbitrate all her claims against the Company, and stayed all proceedings in this case until at least July 10, 2012.

In connection with the bankruptcy proceedings of one of our customers, on April 11, 2012, a claim was filed against the Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for Southern District of New York seeking the return of alleged preference payments made to the Company by the bankruptcy debtor in the amount of \$774,128. On May 17, 2012, the Company filed an answer and affirmative defenses. The Company intends to conduct a vigorous defense of this case.

The nature of our business is such that there is a significant volume of routine claims and lawsuits against us, the vast majority of which have never led to the award of substantial damages. We maintain general liability and workers' compensation insurance coverage that we believe is appropriate to the relevant level of risk and potential liability. Some of the claims brought against us could result in significant payments; however, the exposure to us for general liability claims is limited to the deductibles under our insurance policies, as well as any amount in excess of the maximum coverage provided by such policies. Any punitive damage award would not be covered by our general liability insurance policy. Also, the premiums we pay under our insurance policies may be adversely affected by an unfavorable claims history.

#### ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.			

#### **PART II**

# ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

#### **Common Stock Trading Information**

Shares of our common stock trade on the NYSE MKT, an exchange regulated market, under the ticker symbol "MOC."

The following table sets forth, for the calendar periods indicated, the high and low sales price for our common stock as reflected on the NYSE MKT for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal years.

Last Sales Price Period (1)	ommon stoc igh	stock market price Low	
2012 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter	\$ 1.82 1.80 1.82 1.70	\$	1.46 1.37 1.36 1.34
2011 First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter	\$ 2.69 2.25 2.20 2.02	\$	2.01 1.95 1.78 1.63

<sup>(1)</sup> Reflects fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 as indicated.

The above quotations do not include retail mark-ups, markdowns or commissions and represent prices between dealers and may not represent actual transactions. The past performance of our common stock is not necessarily indicative of the price at which it may trade in the future.

As of June 8, 2012 there were approximately 1,000 holders of our common stock.

For certain information regarding our equity compensation plans, see "Item 12—Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters."

#### **Dividends**

To date, we have neither declared nor paid any cash dividends on shares of our common stock. Payment of dividends on our common stock, if any, will be within the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend, among other factors, on the approval of our principal lender, our earnings and capital requirements and our operating and financial condition. At present, our anticipated capital requirements and growth plans are such that we intend to follow a policy of retaining earnings, if any, to finance our business operations and any growth in our business.

### **Common Stock Repurchases**

During the three months ended March 31, 2012, we repurchased shares of our common stock having a value of \$1,766,990 pursuant to our share repurchase program. The number and average price of shares purchased in the three months ended March 31, 2012 are set forth in the table below:

Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Average Price Paid per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans or Programs	Approximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet be Purchased Under the Program
January 1, 2012 through January 31, 2012	-	N/A	0	\$ 1,791,764
February 1, 2012 through February 29, 2012	1,075,000	\$ 1.64	1,075,000	\$ 24,774
March 1, 2012 through March 31,2012	-	N/A	0	\$ 24,774
Total	1,075,000	\$ 1.64	1,075,000	\$ 24,774

Under our stock repurchase program, announced on December 8, 2011, we can repurchase up to \$2,000,000 of our common stock on the open market. The par value of the shares repurchased is charged to common stock with the excess of the purchase price over par being charged against additional paid-in capital. Shares repurchased during February 2012 are being held in treasury. The program does not have a prescribed expiration date. See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 18 Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities."

1	T	71	<b>/</b>	6	SFI	FCTFD	FINANCIAL.	DATA

Not applicable.

# ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto contained in this Annual Report. In this discussion, the words "Company", "we", "our" and "us" refer to Command Security Corporation.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This section, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and other reports and verbal statements made by our representatives from time to time may contain forward-looking statements that are based on our assumptions, expectations and projections about us and the security industry. These include statements regarding our expectations about revenues, our liquidity, or expenses and our continued growth, among others. You can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as "may," "expect," "anticipate," "contemplate," "believe," "estimate," "intends," and "continue" or similar words. You should statements that contain these words carefully because they:

discuss future expectations; contain projections of future results of operations or financial condition; and state other "forward-looking" information.

Such forward-looking statements by their nature involve a degree of risk and uncertainty. We caution you to not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. We

further caution you that a variety of factors, including but not limited to the factors described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors" and the following, could cause business conditions and our results to differ materially from what is contained in forward-looking statements:

changes in general economic conditions in the United States and abroad; changes in the financial condition of our customers;

legislation or regulatory environments, requirements or changes adversely affecting our business or the businesses in which our customers are engaged;

cancellations and non-renewals of existing contracts;

changes in our estimates of costs;

war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities where services are or may be provided;

outcomes of pending and future litigation;

increasing competition by other companies;

changes in interest rates;

compliance with our loan covenants;

changing interpretations of GAAP;

the general volatility of the market price of our securities;

the availability of qualified personnel;

recoverability of claims against our customers and others by us and claims by third parties against us; and changes in estimates used in our critical accounting policies.

Other factors and assumptions not identified above were also involved in the formation of these forward-looking statements and the failure of such other assumptions to be realized, as well as other factors, may also cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. Most of these factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider the areas of risk described above in connection with any forward-looking statements that may be made by us.

All forward-looking statements included herein attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. We have based the forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on information available to us on the date of this annual report and, except to the extent required by applicable laws and regulations, we undertake no obligation to update these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this annual report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Although we undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, you are advised to consult any additional disclosures that we make directly to you or through reports that we in the future may file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K. Our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors including, but not limited to, those presented under "Risk Factors" included in Item 1A and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

#### CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES.

Critical accounting policies are defined as those most important to the portrayal of a company's financial condition and results and that require the most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates that we make include allowances for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, income tax assets and insurance reserves. Estimates are based on historical experience, where applicable or other assumptions that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. We have identified the policies described below as our critical accounting policies. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 1 Business Description and Summary of Accounting Policies."

#### **Revenue Recognition**

We record revenues as services are provided to our customers. Revenues relate primarily to the provision of aviation and security services, which are typically billed at hourly rates. These rates may vary depending on base, overtime and holiday time worked. Revenue for administrative services provided to other security companies are calculated as a percentage of the administrative service customer's revenue and are recognized when billings for the related security services are generated. Revenue is reported net of applicable taxes.

#### **Accounts Receivable**

We periodically evaluate the requirement for providing for billing adjustments and/or credit losses on our accounts receivable. We provide for billing adjustments where management determines that there is a likelihood of a significant adjustment for disputed billings. Criteria used by management to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts include, among others, the creditworthiness of the customer,

current trends, prior payment performance, the age of the receivables and our overall historical loss experience. Individual accounts are charged off against the allowance as management deems them to be uncollectible.

#### **Intangible Assets**

Intangible assets are stated at cost and consist primarily of customer lists and borrowing costs that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over three to ten years, and goodwill, which is reviewed annually for impairment. The life assigned to customer lists acquired is based on management's estimate of our expected customer attrition rate. The attrition rate is estimated based on historical contract longevity and management's operating experience. We test for impairment annually or when events and circumstances warrant such a review, if earlier. Any potential impairment is evaluated based on anticipated undiscounted future cash flows and actual customer attrition in accordance with FASB ASC 360, *Property, Plant and Equipment*.

#### **Insurance Reserves**

General liability estimated accrued liabilities are calculated on an undiscounted basis based on actual claim data and estimates of incurred but not reported claims developed utilizing historical claim trends. Projected settlements and incurred but not reported claims are estimated based on pending claims, historical trends and related data.

Workers' compensation annual premiums are based on the incurred losses as determined at the end of the coverage period, subject to minimum and maximum premiums. Estimated accrued liabilities are based on our historical loss experience and the ratio of claims paid to our historical payout profiles.

#### **Income Taxes**

Income taxes are based on income (loss) for financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax liability (asset) for the estimated taxes payable (recoverable) in the current year tax return and changes in deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized. In the event that interest and/or penalties are assessed in connection with our tax filings, interest will be recorded as interest expense and penalties as selling, general and administrative expense.

We recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgement occurs. In the event that interest and/or penalties are assessed in connection with our tax filings, interest will be recorded as interest expense and penalties as selling, general and administrative expense.

#### **Stock Based Compensation**

FASB ASC 718, *Stock Compensation*, requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values at grant date and the recognition of the related expense over the period in which the share-based compensation vests. We use the modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-prospective transition method, we recognize compensation expense in our financial statements issued subsequent to the date of adoption for all share-based payments granted, modified or settled. Non-cash charges of \$160,730 and \$467,526 for stock based compensation have been recorded for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

#### **OVERVIEW**

We principally provide uniformed security officers and aviation services to commercial, residential, financial, industrial, aviation and governmental customers through approximately 35 offices throughout the United States. In conjunction with providing these services, we assume responsibility for a variety of functions, including recruiting, hiring, training and supervising all operating personnel as well as paying such personnel and providing them with uniforms, fringe benefits and workers' compensation insurance.

Our customer-focused mission is to provide the best personalized supervision and management attention necessary to deliver timely and efficient security solutions so that our customers can operate in safe environments without disruption or loss. Technology underpins our efficiency, accuracy and dependability. We use a sophisticated software system that integrates scheduling, payroll and billing functions, giving customers the benefit of customized programs using the personnel best suited to the job.

Renewing and extending existing contracts and obtaining new contracts are crucial to our ability to generate revenues, earnings and cash flow. In addition, our growth strategy involves the acquisition and integration of complementary businesses in order to increase our scale within certain geographical areas, increase our market share in the markets in which we operate, gain market share in the markets in which we do not currently operate and improve our profitability. We intend to pursue suitable acquisition opportunities for contract security officer businesses. We frequently evaluate acquisition opportunities and, at any given time, may be in various stages of due diligence or preliminary discussions with respect to a number of potential acquisitions. However, we cannot assure you that we will identify any suitable acquisition candidates or, if identified, that we will be able to complete the acquisition of such candidates on favorable terms or at all.

The global security industry has grown largely due to an increasing fear of crime and terrorism. In the United States, the demand for security-related products and central station monitoring services also has grown steadily. We believe

that there is continued heightened attention to and demand for security due to worldwide events, and the ensuing threat, or perceived threat, of criminal and terrorist activities. For these reasons, we expect that security will continue to be a key area of focus both domestically in the United States and abroad.

Demand for security officer services is dependent upon a number of factors, including, among other things, demographic trends, general economic variables such as growth in the gross domestic product, unemployment rates, consumer spending levels, perceived and actual crime rates, government legislation, terrorism sensitivity, war/external conflicts and technology.

#### RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

#### **Earnings**

Our net income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was \$140,760 and \$1,620,255, respectively. Our net income was impacted primarily by: (i) the loss of a major domestic carrier's aviation services business at six domestic airport locations during the latter half of fiscal 2011; (ii) the loss of security services contracts for a Silicon Valley technology company, a Silicon Valley semiconductor equipment manufacturer's facility in New York and a company that provides distribution services to a grocery retailer in New Jersey; (iii) reductions in security services hours associated with a large bank and financial services organization; (iv) reductions in service hours and rates associated with the renewal of a contract with a major international air carrier at John F. Kennedy International Airport ("JFK"); (v) additional federal and state unemployment tax surcharges associated with several states in which we operate that had Federal Unemployment Trust Fund loans, taken to keep their unemployment insurance benefit programs solvent during recent periods of extended high unemployment; (vi) higher costs associated with our workers' compensation insurance program; (vii) professional and related fees principally associated with settlement of employment related claims and (viii) the loss on sale of investments as described in "—Loss/Gain on Sale of Investments" below. The decrease in net income was partially offset by: (i) expansion of security services under a contract with a major transportation company; (ii) expansion of services provided to new and existing security and aviation customers; (iii) a decrease in general and administrative expenses that resulted primarily from lower executive salaries (due mainly to the reorganization of our regional and local branch management), which were partially offset by higher legal and executive search fees.

#### Revenues

Our revenues decreased by \$4,931,990, or 3.4%, to \$141,558,169 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, from \$146,490,159 in the corresponding period of the prior year. The decrease in revenues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 was mainly due to: (i) the previously reported loss of a major domestic carrier's aviation services business at six domestic airport locations of approximately \$7,655,000; (ii) the loss of security services contracts for a Silicon Valley technology company, a Silicon Valley semiconductor equipment manufacturer's facility in New York and a company that provides distribution services to a grocery retailer in New Jersey of approximately \$2,035,000; (iii) reductions in security services hours associated with a large banking and financial services organization of approximately \$2,118,000; (iv) reductions in service hours and rates of approximately \$477,000 associated with the renewal of a contract with a major international air carrier at JFK and (v) the loss of a major international air carrier's aviation services business at JFK during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 of approximately \$345,000. The decrease in our revenues was partially offset by: (i) increased revenues of approximately \$4,044,000 associated with an expansion of services provided under a contract with a major transportation company; (ii) a new aviation services contract with a municipal airport authority of approximately \$1,150,000 and (iii) expansion of services to new and existing security and aviation customers that resulted in additional aggregate revenues of approximately \$2,288,000.

#### **Gross Profit**

Our gross profit for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased \$2,996,788 or 14.9% to \$17,098,381 (12.1% of revenues) from \$20,095,169 (13.7% of revenues) for fiscal 2011. Our gross profit was impacted primarily by: (i) the loss of a major domestic carrier's aviation services business as noted above; (ii) the loss of security services contracts for a technology company, semiconductor equipment manufacturer and a company that provides distribution services to a grocery retailer as described above; (iii) reductions in security services hours associated with a large bank and financial services organization; (iv) reductions in service hours and rates associated with the renewal of a contract and the loss of another major international aviation carrier's business at JFK as noted above; (v) additional federal unemployment tax surcharges associated with several states in which we operate that had Federal Unemployment Trust Fund loans, taken to keep their unemployment insurance benefit programs solvent during recent periods of extended high unemployment; (vi) higher costs associated with our workers' compensation insurance program and (vii) professional and related fees principally associated with settlement of employment related claims. The decrease in gross profit was partially offset by expansion of security services to a major transportation company and services provided to new and existing security and aviation customers as described above.

We have an insurance policy covering workers' compensation claims in States in which we perform services. Estimated accrued liabilities are based on our historical loss experience and the ratio of claims paid to our historical payout profiles. Charges for estimated workers' compensation related losses incurred and included in cost of sales were \$2,800,455 and \$2,561,114 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The nature of our business also subjects us to claims or litigation alleging that we are liable for damages as a result of the conduct of our employees or others. We insure against such claims and suits through general liability policies with third-party insurance companies. Our insurance coverage limits are currently \$7,000,000 per occurrence for non-aviation related business (with an additional excess umbrella policy of \$10,000,000) and \$30,000,000 per occurrence for aviation related business. We retain the risk for the first \$25,000 per occurrence on the non-aviation related policy that includes airport wheelchair and electric cart operations and \$5,000 on the aviation related policy (except \$25,000 for damage to aircraft and \$100,000 for skycap operations). Estimated accrued liabilities are based on specific reserves in connection with existing claims as determined by third party risk management consultants and actuarial factors and the timing of reported claims. These are all factored into estimated losses incurred but not yet reported to us.

# **General and Administrative Expenses**

Our general and administrative expenses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased by \$684,060 to \$15,890,719 (11.2% of revenues) from \$16,574,779 (11.3% of revenues) in fiscal 2011. The decrease in general and administrative expenses resulted primarily from a decrease in executive salaries resulting mainly from reorganizing our regional and local branch management, which was partially offset by higher legal and executive search fees.

#### **Provision for Doubtful Accounts**

The provision for doubtful accounts for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased by \$5,036 to \$302,417 from \$307,453 in fiscal 2011. The decrease is due mainly to the timing and amounts of uncollectible accounts charged and/or credited to expense between the current and prior year period.

We periodically evaluate the requirement for providing for billing adjustments and/or credit losses on our accounts receivable. We provide for billing adjustments where our management determines that there is a likelihood of a significant adjustment for disputed billings. Criteria used by management to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts include, among others, the creditworthiness of the customer, current trends, prior payment performance, the age of the receivables and our overall historical loss experience. Individual accounts are charged off against the allowance as management deems them as uncollectible. We do not know if bad debts will increase in future periods nor does our management believe that the decrease during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 compared with the same period of the prior year is necessarily indicative of a trend.

#### **Bad Debt Recoveries**

Bad debt recoveries for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased by \$33,735 to \$74,846 from \$108,581 in fiscal 2011. The recoveries in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 are primarily due to the receipt of

\$73,902 and \$95,388, respectively, in marketable securities related principally to the bankruptcy filing of a security services customer.

#### **Interest Income**

Interest income was comparable for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, and principally represents interest earned on cash balances.

#### **Interest Expense**

Interest expense for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased by \$82,071 to \$261,413 from \$343,484 in fiscal 2011. The decrease in interest expense was due primarily to lower average outstanding borrowings under our credit agreement with Wells Fargo and reduced borrowing rates, described below.

### **Equipment Dispositions**

Equipment dispositions are a result of the sale of vehicles, office equipment and security equipment at prices above or below book value.

The \$4,915 and \$21,277 gain on equipment dispositions for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively, were primarily due to the disposition of Company vehicles at amounts in excess of their respective book values.

### Loss/Gain on Sale of Investments

The \$167,958 loss on sale of investments for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 primarily represents carrying value in excess of proceeds for the sale of stock received under our claim related to the bankruptcy filings of Delta and Northwest Airlines in September 2005. The \$36,488 gain on sale of investments for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 represents proceeds in excess of carrying amount for the sale of stock received under our claim related to the bankruptcy filing of Spansion Inc. in March 2009.

#### **Provision for Income Taxes**

Provision for income taxes for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 decreased \$1,001,000 compared with fiscal 2011 due mainly to decrease in our pre-tax earnings which was partially offset by the loss of deferred tax assets resulting from the cancellation of stock options previously held by former employees and directors. We have determined based on our expectations for the future that it is more likely than not that future taxable income will be sufficient to utilize fully the net deferred tax assets at March 31, 2012 and 2011.

### LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

During fiscal 2012, we began paying employees and administrative service customers on a bi-weekly basis, except for one operating location at which employees are paid weekly, while customers pay for services generally within 60 days after billing by us. We maintain a commercial revolving loan arrangement, currently with Wells Fargo. We fund our payroll and operations primarily through borrowings under our \$20,000,000 credit facility with Wells Fargo (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"), described below under "—Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility."

We principally use short-term borrowings under our Credit Agreement to fund our accounts receivable. Our short-term borrowings have supported the accounts receivable associated with our organic growth. We intend to continue to use short-term borrowings to support our working capital requirements.

We believe that our existing funds, cash generated from operations, and existing sources of and access to financing are adequate to satisfy our working capital, capital expenditures and debt service requirements for the foreseeable future. However, we cannot assure you that this will be the case, and we may be required to obtain alternative or additional financing to maintain and expand our existing operations through the sale of our securities, an increase in the amount of available borrowings under our Credit Agreement, obtaining additional financing from other financial institutions or otherwise. The failure by us to obtain such financing, if needed, would have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial condition and results of operations.

#### **Wells Fargo Revolving Credit Facility**

On February 12, 2009, we entered into a \$20,000,000 Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo. This Credit Agreement, which was amended in October 2011 as described below, matures in October 2016, and contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including, among other things, covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios and is collateralized by customer accounts receivable and certain other assets of the Company as defined in the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement provides for a letter of credit sub-line in an aggregate amount of up to \$3,000,000. The Credit Agreement also provides for interest to be calculated on the outstanding principal balance of the revolving loans at the Prime Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.50%. For LIBOR loans, interest will be calculated on the outstanding principal balance of the LIBOR loans at the LIBOR rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.75% (see below).

On October 18, 2011, we entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to our Credit Agreement. The Amendment (i) extends the term of the \$20,000,000 Credit Facility to October 2016, (ii) decreases the interest rate spreads on the outstanding principal balance of the revolving loans to LIBOR plus 1.75% and amends certain covenants including: (a) increasing the amount of capital expenditures that can be incurred in the aggregate during any fiscal year or in any one transaction and (b) permitting us to repurchase up to \$2,000,000 of our common stock subject to certain conditions.

As of March 31, 2012, the interest rate was 2.0% for LIBOR loans. Closing costs for the Credit Agreement totaled \$314,706 and were amortized over the original three year term of the Credit Agreement which ended in February 2012.

At March 31, 2012, we had \$5,000,000 in LIBOR loans and \$202,807 under our letters of credit sub-line outstanding under the Credit Agreement, representing approximately 41% of the maximum borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement based on our "eligible accounts receivable" (as defined under the Credit Agreement) as of such date.

We rely on our revolving loan from Wells Fargo which contains a fixed charge covenant and various other financial and non-financial covenants. If we breach a covenant, Wells Fargo has the right to immediately request the repayment in full of all borrowings under the Credit Agreement, unless Wells Fargo waives the breach. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement. See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 7 Borrowings."

#### **Other Borrowings**

We may obtain short-term financing to meet our annual property and casualty insurance needs. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, \$3,644,447 and \$3,724,035, respectively, was borrowed for this purpose at annual interest rates of 2.3% and 2.2%, respectively, for each year. At March 31, 2012 and 2011, we had \$1,830,951 and \$2,031,292, respectively, of short-term insurance borrowings outstanding. Such borrowings are collateralized by unearned premiums and dividends which may become payable under our insurance policies.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we decreased our LIBOR borrowings by \$2,500,000 and decreased our insurance financing borrowing by \$200,341.

#### **Cash Flows**

The following table summarizes our cash flow activity for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011:

Net cash provided by operating activities 2012 2011

Net cash used in investing activities (11,629 ) (92,294 )

Net cash used in financing activities (8,037,690) (5,501,259)

### **Investments and Capital Expenditures**

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we received proceeds from the sale of marketable securities in the amount of \$329,871. See "Notes to Financial Statements—Note 5 Other Assets." We have no material commitments for capital expenditures at this time.

### **Financing**

The Company uses borrowings under its Credit Agreement to meet its working capital needs and may obtain short-term financing to meet its insurance needs. See "—Wells Fargo Credit Facility" and "—Other Borrowings" above.

### **Working Capital**

Our working capital decreased by \$1,009,052, or 8.4%, to \$10,956,094 as of March 31, 2012, from \$11,965,146 as of March 31, 2011, which includes the effect of repurchases of shares of our common stock having a value of \$1,975,226 pursuant to our share repurchase program.

We experienced checks issued in advance of deposits (defined as checks drawn in advance of future deposits) of \$884,095 as of March 31, 2012, compared with \$534,253 at March 31, 2011. Cash balances and book overdrafts can fluctuate materially from day to day depending on such factors as collections, timing of billing and payroll dates, and are covered via advances from the revolving loan as checks are presented for payment.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that are currently material or reasonably likely to be material to our financial position or results of operations.

### **OUTLOOK**

### **Strategic Initiatives**

Our Board of Directors and management have initiated a number of strategic actions to improve the Company's performance. Craig P. Coy joined the Company as Chief Executive Officer on January 3, 2012, as previously announced. Following Mr. Coy's appointment, we began implementing strategic initiatives designed to further increase efficiencies across the organization and lower the overall cost structure. Key elements of these initiatives include:

The consolidation of our corporate offices and streamlining of our management structure to integrate all of our functions into a common platform and use resources more efficiently.

Renewed focus on operational performance, including managing overtime, to improve our operating margins and service delivery capabilities.

Strategic new hires in the human resources and sales departments, bringing on board a new Vice President of Human Resources and a new Vice President of Sales and Marketing and expanding our sales and marketing team with the hiring of additional sales executives to maximize our marketing opportunities.

Reviews of our market position and product and service offerings to ensure that "best in breed" capabilities are brought to market.

These strategic initiatives may result in future costs related to severance and other employee-related matters, litigation risks and expenses, and other costs. At this time we are unable to determine the scope of these potential costs.

#### **Financial Results**

Our future revenues will largely depend on our ability to gain additional business from new and existing customers in our security and aviation services divisions at acceptable margins while minimizing terminations of contracts with existing customers. In addition, our growth strategy involves the acquisition and integration of complementary businesses in order to increase our scale within certain geographical areas, increase market share in the markets in which we operate, enter new markets and improve our profitability. We intend to pursue acquisition opportunities for contract security officer businesses. Our ability to complete future acquisitions will depend on our ability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, negotiate acceptable terms for their acquisition and, if necessary, finance those acquisitions. Our security services division continues to experience organic growth over recent quarters and over the past few years, as demand for our security services has steadily increased. Our current focus is on increasing our revenues, as our sales and marketing team and branch managers' work to develop new business and retain profitable contracts. However, several of our airline and security services customers have reduced capacity within their systems, which typically results in reductions of service hours provided by us to such customers. Also, competition from other security services companies impacts our ability to gain or maintain sales, gross margins and/or employees. Since September 11, 2001, the Department of Homeland Security and the Transportation Security Administration have implemented numerous security measures that affect airline operations, including expanded cargo and baggage

screening, and are likely to implement additional measures in the future. Additional measures taken to enhance either passenger or cargo security procedures in the future may increase the airline industry's demand for third party services provided by us. Additionally, our aviation services division is continually subject to such government regulation, which has adversely affected us in the past with the federalization of the pre-board screening services and the document verification process at several of our domestic airport locations.

Our gross profit margin decreased during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 to 12.1% of revenues, compared with 13.7% for the corresponding period of the previous year. We expect our gross profit margins to average between 13.0% and 14.0% of revenue for fiscal year 2013 based on current business conditions. We expect gross profit to remain under pressure due primarily to continued price competition, including competition from companies that have substantially greater financial and other resources than we have. However, we expect these effects will be moderated by continued operational efficiencies resulting from better management and leveraging of our cost structures, improved workers' compensation experience ratings, workflow process efficiencies associated with our integrated financial software system and higher contributions from our continuing new business development.

Our cost reduction program is expected to reduce certain of our operating and general and administrative expenses. Annual operating and general and administrative cost reduction opportunities of approximately \$1,300,000 were identified and implemented during the first quarter of fiscal 2012. Additional cost reduction opportunities are being identified and will be pursued as they are determined.

As noted earlier, on February 12, 2009, we entered into a \$20,000,000 Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo, which was amended on October 18, 2011, as described above. As of the close of business on June 8, 2012, our cash availability was approximately \$9,295,000, which we believe is sufficient to meet our needs for the foreseeable future barring any increase in reserves imposed by Wells Fargo. We believe that existing funds, cash generated from operations, and existing sources of and access to financing are adequate to satisfy our working capital, planned capital expenditures and debt service requirements for the foreseeable future, barring any increase in reserves imposed by Wells Fargo. However, we cannot assure you that this will be the case, and we may be required to obtain alternative or additional financing to maintain and expand our existing operations through the sale of our securities, an increase in the amount of available borrowings under our Credit Agreement, obtaining additional financing from other financial institutions or otherwise. The financial markets generally, and the credit markets in particular, continue to be volatile, both in the United States and in other markets worldwide. The current market situation has resulted generally in substantial reductions in available loans to a broad spectrum of businesses, increased scrutiny by lenders of the credit-worthiness of borrowers, more restrictive covenants imposed by lenders upon borrowers under credit and similar agreements and, in some cases, increased interest rates under commercial and other loans. If we require alternative or additional financing at this or any other time, we cannot assure you that such financing will be available upon commercially acceptable terms or at all. If we fail to obtain additional financing when and if required by us, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be materially adversely affected.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the financial statements and schedule listed in Item 15 (a)(1) and (a)(2) of Part IV of this Form 10-K Annual Report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, regarding the effectiveness of the design and operation of our "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2012 have been designed and are functioning effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.

A controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and

instances	of	fraud.	if	anv		within	a	company	have	been	detected	1.
mounices	$\mathbf{o}_{\mathbf{I}}$	muu,		ully	•	** 1 (11111	u	Company	IIu v C	CCCII	actectet	

(b) Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2012 based on the framework in <i>Internal Control—Integrated Framework</i> issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2012 and for the period then ended.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only management's report in this Annual Report.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in an evaluation thereof that (b) occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 that materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
20

### **PART III**

#### ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this Item 10 will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders which is expected to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the close of the our fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 (the "2012 Proxy Statement") under the captions "Proposal One: Election of Directors," "Information Concerning Executive Officers," and "Board Meetings and Committees," and is incorporated herein by reference.

### ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this Item 11 will be set forth in the 2012 Proxy Statement under the captions "Executive Compensation" and "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," and is incorporated herein by reference.

# ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this Item 12 will be set forth in the 2012 Proxy Statement under the captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" and "Executive Compensation-Equity Compensation Plan Information," and is incorporated herein by reference.

# ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this Item 13 will be set forth in the 2012 Proxy Statement under the captions "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Board Meetings and Committees," and is incorporated herein by reference.

### ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this Item 14 will be set forth in the 2012 Proxy Statement under the caption "Proposal Two: Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accountants," and is incorporated herein by reference.

## **PART IV**

# ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a)

	Page Number from this Form 10-K
(1) Financial Statements:	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	F-1
Balance Sheets - March 31, 2012 and 2011	F-2
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income - years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011	F-3
Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity - years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011	F-4
Statements of Cash Flows - years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011	F-5
Notes to Financial Statements	F-7
(2) Financial Statement Schedules:	
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts	F-19
Schedules not listed above have been omitted as either not applicable, immaterial or disclosed Financial Statements or notes thereto.	d in the

## (3) Exhibits:

A list of exhibits filed or furnished with this report on Form 10-K (or incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed or furnished by us) is provided in the Exhibit Index on pages 24-25 of this report.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on our behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

# COMMAND SECURITY CORPORATION

Date: June 28, 2012

By: /s/ Craig P. Coy Craig P. Coy Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Peter T. Kikis Peter T. Kikis	Chairman of the Board	June 28, 2012
/s/ Craig P. Coy Craig P. Coy	Director and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	June 28, 2012
/s/ Barry I. Regenstein Barry I. Regenstein	Director, President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)	June 28, 2012
/s/ Martin C. Blake, Jr. Martin C. Blake, Jr.	Director and Chief Operating Officer	June 28, 2012
/s/ James P. Heffernan James P. Heffernan	Director	June 28, 2012
/s/ Thomas P. Kikis Thomas P. Kikis	Director	June 28, 2012
/s/ Janet L. Steinmayer Janet L. Steinmayer	Director	June 28, 2012

# COMMAND SECURITY CORPORATION

# **EXHIBIT INDEX**

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Description	
3.1	Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit of Incorporation 3.3 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1993.
3.2	By-Laws	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1991.
4.1	Specimen Stock Certificate	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.A to Amendment #1 to Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-18, file number 33, 35007-NY.
4.2	Specimen Series A Preferred Stock Certificate	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed October 27, 1993.
10.1	Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Assets dated June 13, 2006, for the acquisition of Sterling Protective Group, Inc.	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Form 8-K filed June 13, 2006.
10.2	Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 12, 2007, for the acquisition of Brown Security Industries, Inc.	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Form 8-K filed April 12, 2007.
10.3	Amended and Restated Plan of Merger dated April 12, 2007, for the acquisition of Brown Security Industries, Inc.	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Form 8-K filed April 12, 2007.
10.4	Wells Fargo Business Credit, Credit and Security Agreement dated February 12, 2009	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 10-Q filed February 17, 2009.
10.5	Second Amendment to [Wells Fargo Business] Credit and Security Agreement dated as of October 18, 2011	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filed October 18, 2011.
*10.6	2000 Stock Option Plan	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.25 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 filed July 3, 2001.
*10.7	2005 Stock Incentive Plan	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.5 of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 filed June 28, 2006.
*10.8	2009 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the 2009 Proxy Statement filed July 29, 2009.
*10.9	Barry I. Regenstein Employment Agreement	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Form 10-Q filed February 12, 2010.
*10.10	Marc W. Brown Employment Agreement	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Form 8-K filed April 12, 2007.
*10.11	Martin C. Blake, Jr. Employment Agreement	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Form 10-Q filed August 14, 2008.
*10.12	Edward S. Fleury Employment Agreement	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filed September 29, 2008.

*10.13	Craig P. Coy Employment Agreement	Filed herewith.  Incorporated by reference to Note 8 of the Financial
11.1	Computation of Income Per Share of Common Stock	Statements filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
31.1	Certifications Pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)/15(d)-14(a)	Filed herewith.
31.2	Certifications Pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a)/15(d)-14(a)	Filed herewith.
32.1	Section 1350 Certifications	Filed herewith.
32.2	Section 1350 Certifications	Filed herewith.
99.1	Press Release dated June 28, 2012 announcing March 31, 2012 fourth quarter and fiscal year results	Filed herewith.
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document	Filed herewith.
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document	Filed herewith.
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document	Filed herewith.
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document	Filed herewith.
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document	Filed herewith.
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document	Filed herewith.

<sup>\*</sup> Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

Report of Independent Registered

**Public Accounting Firm** 

To the Board of Directors

and Stockholders of

**Command Security Corporation** 

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Command Security Corporation as of March 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended March 31, 2012. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. Command Security Corporation's management is responsible for these financial statements and the schedule. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and the schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Command Security Corporation as of March 31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended March 31, 2012, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/D'Arcangelo & Co., LLP

June 28, 2012

Poughkeepsie, New York

F-1

# Command Security Corporation

**Balance Sheets** 

March 31, 2012 and 2011

	2012	2011
ASSETS		
Current assets:	¢ 1 175 000	¢2.462.461
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable from security services customers, less allowance for doubtful	\$1,175,809	\$3,463,461
accounts of \$582,510 and \$306,469, respectively	20,608,677	21,712,418
Prepaid expenses	1,744,425	1,822,640
Other current assets	2,662,904	3,035,988
Total current assets	26,191,815	30,034,507
Furniture and equipment at cost, net	385,664	538,414
Intangible assets, net	3,391,821	4,022,955
Restricted cash	83,023	82,970
Other assets	2,989,360	2,863,213
Total assets	\$33,041,683	\$37,542,059
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Checks issued in advance of deposits	\$884,095	\$534,253
Current maturities of obligations under capital leases	_	43,235
Short-term borrowings	6,830,951	9,531,292
Accounts payable	997,605	617,039
Accrued expenses and other liabilities	6,523,070	7,343,542
Total current liabilities	15,235,721	18,069,361
Insurance reserves	576,342	719,630
Total liabilities	15,812,063	18,788,991
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 13 and 14)		
Stockholders' equity: Preferred stock, convertible Series A, \$.0001 par value per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized	_	_

Common stock, \$.0001 par value per share, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 10,741,498		
and 9,666,498 shares issued and outstanding, respectively, in 2012 and 10,878,098	1,074	1,087
shares issued and outstanding in 2011		
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,075,000 and 0 shares, respectively	(1,788,505)	
Additional paid-in capital	16,668,518	16,718,779
Accumulated earnings	2,348,533	2,207,773
Accumulated other comprehensive income		(174,571)
Total stockholders' equity	17,229,620	18,753,068
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$33,041,683	\$37,542,059

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

F-2

# **Command Security Corporation**

# Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income

Years Ended March 31, 2012 and 2011

	2012	2011
Revenues Cost of revenues	\$141,558,169 124,459,788	\$146,490,159 126,394,990
Gross profit	17,098,381	20,095,169
Operating expenses General and administrative expenses Provision for doubtful accounts Bad debt recoveries	15,890,719 302,417 (74,846 16,118,290	16,574,779 307,453 ) (108,581 ) 16,773,651
Operating income	980,091	3,321,518
Other income (expenses) Interest income Interest expense Gain on equipment dispositions (Loss) gain on sale of investments	4,915 (167,958	456 ) (343,484 ) 21,277 ) 36,488 ) (285,263 )
Income before provision for income taxes	555,760	3,036,255
Provision for income taxes	415,000	1,416,000
Net income	140,760	1,620,255
Other comprehensive income (loss): Unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale securities Reclassification adjustment  Net gain (loss) recognized in other comprehensive income	6,613 167,958 174,571	(126,048 ) — (126,048 )
Total comprehensive income	\$315,331	\$1,494,207
To a construction of a construction		

Income per share of common stock

Basic Diluted	\$.01 \$.01	\$.15 \$.15
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding		
Basic	10,703,881	10,874,098
Diluted	10,798,741	11,090,917

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

F-3

# **Command Security Corporation**

Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity

Years Ended March 31, 2012 and 2011

	PreferreTreasury Stock Stock	Common Stock	Additional Paid-In Capital	Accumulated Earnings	Accumulate Other Comprehens Income	
Balance at March 31, 2010	\$ — \$—	\$ 1,087	\$16,243,153	\$587,518	\$ (48,523	) \$16,783,235
Options exercised		_	8,100			8,100
Other comprehensive income (a)					(126,048	) (126,048 )
Stock compensation cost			467,526			467,526
Net income				1,620,255		1,620,255
Balance at March 31, 2011		1,087	16,718,779	2,207,773	(174,571	) 18,753,068
Common stock repurchased	(1,788,505)	) (13 )	(210,991 )			(1,999,509)
Unrealized gain and reclassification adjustment on available for sale securities					174,571	174,571
Stock compensation cost			160,730			160,730
Net income				140,760		140,760
Balance at March 31, 2012	\$ - \$(1,788,505)	\$ 1,074	\$16,668,518	\$2,348,533	\$—	\$17,229,620

<sup>(</sup>a) – Represents unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities.

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

F-4

# **Command Security Corporation**

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended March 31, 2012 and 2011

# INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	2012	2011
OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
Net income	\$140,760	\$1,620,255
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	824,274	918,554
Stock based compensation costs	160,730	467,526
Provision for doubtful accounts, net of recoveries	276,041	(860,968)
Gain on equipment dispositions	(4,915)	(21,277)
Loss (gain) on sale of investments	167,958	(36,488)
Deferred income taxes	(320,153)	(95,848)
Insurance reserves	(143,288)	(51,996)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Restricted cash	(53)	(164)
Accounts receivable	827,700	2,184,964
Prepaid expenses	1,317,327	929,573
Other receivables	(117,318)	116,883
Other assets	3,022,941	1,979,578
Accounts payable and other current liabilities	(390,337)	694,474
Net cash provided by operating activities	5,761,667	7,845,066
INVESTING ACTIVITIES		
Purchases of equipment	(93,684)	(241,568)
Proceeds from equipment dispositions	8,641	21,281
Proceeds from sale of investments, net	73,414	127,993
Net cash used in investing activities	(11,629 )	(92,294 )
FINANCING ACTIVITIES		
Net repayments on short-term borrowings	(6,344,788)	(5,188,478)
Increase (decrease) in checks issued in advance of deposits	349,842	(204,953)
Repurchases and retirement of shares	(1,999,509)	
Proceeds from option exercises	_	8,100
Principal payments on capital lease obligations	(43,235)	(115,928 )

Net cash used in financing activities	(8,037,690)	(5,501,259)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	(2,287,652)	2,251,513
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	3,463,461	1,211,948
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$1,175,809	\$3,463,461

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

F-5

**Command Security Corporation** 

Statements of Cash Flows, Continued

Years Ended March 31, 2012 and 2011

### 1. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

Cash paid during the years for:

2012 2011

Interest \$270,623 \$346,556 Income taxes 955,510 1,931,421

#### 2. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company received \$73,902 and \$95,388, respectively, in marketable securities related principally to the bankruptcy filing of a security services customer. These amounts have been excluded from the operating activities on the statements of cash flows presented.

The Company may obtain short-term premium financing to assist with meeting its annual property and casualty insurance needs. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, \$3,644,447 and \$3,724,035, respectively, was financed for this purpose. These insurance premium financings have been excluded from the statements of cash flows presented.

On March 29, 2012, the Company sold marketable securities for which the proceeds of \$261,299 were not received until subsequent to year end. This amount has been excluded from the operating and investing activities on the statements of cash flows presented.

See accompanying *Notes to Financial Statements* 

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements

March 31, 2012 and 2011

#### 1. Business Description and Summary of Accounting Policies

The following is a description of the principal business activities and significant accounting policies employed by Command Security Corporation. In this discussion, the words "Company", "we", "our" and "us" refer to Command Security Corporation.

### **Principal Business Activities**

We are a uniformed security officer service company operating in Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, District of Columbia, Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Texas, Utah, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin and Wyoming. In addition, we also provide police departments with administrative services, such as billing, collection and payroll, for a percentage of the related gross revenue.

#### Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The estimates that we make include allowances for doubtful accounts, depreciation and amortization, income tax assets and insurance reserves. Estimates are based on historical experience, where applicable or other assumptions that our management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates, our actual results may differ from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

# Revenue Recognition

We record revenue as services are provided to our customers. Revenue relates primarily to the provision of aviation and security services, which are typically billed at hourly rates. These rates may vary depending on base, overtime and holiday time worked. Revenue for administrative services provided to police departments are calculated as a percentage of the administrative service customer's revenue and are recognized when billings for the related security services are generated. Revenue is reported net of applicable taxes.

### **Advertising Costs**

We expense advertising costs as incurred. Amounts incurred for recruitment and general business advertising were \$224,867 and \$67,969 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

### Cash and Cash Equivalents

We define cash and cash equivalents as operating cash (non-restricted) and highly liquid investments with maturities of ninety (90) days or less at the date of purchase. The carrying amounts of our cash equivalents approximate their fair values.

#### Accounts Receivables

We periodically evaluate the requirement for providing for billing adjustments and/or reflect the extent to which we will be able to collect our accounts receivable. We provide for billing adjustments where management determines that there is a likelihood of a significant adjustment for disputed billings. Criteria used by management to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts include, among others, the creditworthiness of the customer, current trends, prior payment performance, the age of the receivables and our overall historical loss experience. Individual accounts are charged off against the allowance as management deems them to be uncollectible.

#### **Investments**

We account for our investments in marketable securities in accordance with FASB ASC 320, *Debt and Equity Securities*. At March 31, 2012, we had no short-term investments. Other investments in marketable equity are classified as available-for-sale and reported in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until realized. Realized gains and losses on sales of all these securities are reported in earnings, computed using the average cost method.

F-7

### **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

### Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is generally recorded using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives of the equipment ranging from three to seven years.

### Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost and consist primarily of customer lists and borrowing costs that are being amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of three to ten years, and goodwill, which is reviewed annually for impairment. The life assigned to customer lists acquired is based on management's estimate of our expected customer attrition rate. The attrition rate is estimated based on historical contract longevity and management's operating experience. We test for impairment annually or when events and circumstances warrant such a review, if earlier. Any potential impairment is evaluated based on anticipated undiscounted future cash flows and actual customer attrition in accordance with FASB ASC 360, *Property, Plant and Equipment*.

#### Insurance Reserves

General liability estimated accrued liabilities are calculated on an undiscounted basis based on actual claim data and estimates of incurred but not reported claims developed utilizing historical claim trends. Projected settlements and incurred but not reported claims are estimated based on pending claims, historical trends and related data.

Workers' compensation annual premiums are based on the incurred losses as determined at the end of the coverage period, subject to minimum and maximum premiums. Estimated accrued liabilities are based on our historical loss experience and the ratio of claims paid to our historical payout profiles.

## **Income Taxes**

Income taxes are based on income (loss) for financial reporting purposes and reflect a current tax liability (asset) for the estimated taxes payable (recoverable) in the current year tax return and changes in deferred taxes. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax laws and rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the asset will not be realized.

We recognize the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. In the event that interest and/or penalties are assessed in connection with our tax filings, interest will be recorded as interest expense and penalties as selling, general and administrative expense. We did not have any unrecognized tax benefits as of March 31, 2012 and 2011.

#### Income Per Share

Under the requirements of FASB ASC 260, *Earnings Per Share*, the dilutive effect of potential common shares, if any, is excluded from the calculation for basic earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share are presented for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 because of the effect the assumed issuance of common shares would have if the outstanding stock options were exercised.

### **Stock-Based Compensation**

FASB ASC 718, *Stock Compensation*, requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values at grant date and the recognition of the related expense over the period in which the share-based compensation vests. We use the modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-prospective transition method, we recognize compensation expense in our financial statements issued subsequent to the date of adoption for all share-based payments granted, modified or settled. Non-cash charges of \$160,730 and \$467,526 for stock based compensation have been recorded for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, checks issued in advance of deposits, accounts payable and accrued expenses are reasonable estimates of the fair values because of their short-term maturity. The fair value of the Company's long-term debt is based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans and leases with similar terms and average maturities.

### **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

FASB ASC 820, *Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures*, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. FASB ASC 820 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include:

- ·Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;
- Level 2, defined as observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets; quoted prices
- $\cdot$ in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and
- Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists; therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.

### Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2011, the FASB issued updated authoritative guidance related to new disclosure requirements on offsetting financial assets and liabilities. The new rules require companies to disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in the balance sheet as well as instruments and transactions subject to a netting arrangement. The updated authoritative guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and interim periods within those annual periods. We are currently evaluating the potential impact, if any, of the adoption of this updated authoritative guidance on our financial statement disclosures.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08, *Testing Goodwill for Impairment*. ASU 2011-08 provides entities with an option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether further impairment testing is necessary. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annual and interim goodwill impairment tests performed for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, with early adoption permitted. This standard is not expected to have a significant impact on our financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance to amend the presentation of comprehensive income to allow an entity the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. In both choices, an entity is required to present each component of net income along with

total net income, each component of other comprehensive income along with a total for other comprehensive income, and a total amount for comprehensive income. The guidance eliminates the option to present the components of other comprehensive income as part of the statement of changes in stockholders' equity. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and is required to be applied retrospectively. We have included such disclosures in the accompanying financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011.

## 2. Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consist of the following:

	2012	2011
Transportation equipment Security equipment Office furniture and equipment	\$298,785 1,102,230 2,249,894	\$339,463 1,082,046 2,191,807
Accumulated depreciation	3,650,909 (3,265,245)	3,613,316 (3,074,902)
Total	\$385,664	\$538,414

Depreciation expense for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, was \$242,708 and \$305,996, respectively, and includes amortization of assets purchased under capital lease arrangements in the amounts of \$48,959 and \$89,196 for each of the respective years then ended (see Note 14).

## **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

## 3. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consist of the following:

	2012	2011
Customer list Borrowing costs Goodwill	\$4,673,860 314,706 895,258	\$4,753,429 314,706 895,258
Non-compete covenant	100,000	100,000
Accumulated amortization	5,983,824 (2,592,003)	6,063,393 (2,010,438)
Total	\$3,391,821	\$4,022,955

Amortization expense for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, was \$581,565 and \$612,558, respectively. Amortization expense for the years ending March 31, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 for the intangible assets noted above will be \$472,566, \$472,566, \$472,566, \$472,566 and \$410,113, respectively.

Included in intangible assets for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 is goodwill of \$895,258 that is not subject to amortization and net borrowing costs of \$0 and \$96,499, respectively, which were subject to amortization on a straight line basis over the life of the Company's financing agreement (see Note 7).

### 4. Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents deposits for the benefit of the Company's insurance carrier as collateral for workers' compensation claims.

#### 5. Other Assets

Other assets at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consist of the following:

	2012	2011
Workers' compensation insurance	\$2,397,723	\$2,894,125
Other receivables	258,681	141,363
Security deposits	196,982	199,339
Deferred tax asset	2,729,032	2,408,878
Other (a)	69,846	255,496
	5,652,264	5,899,201
Current portion	(2,662,904)	(3,035,988)
Total non-current portion	\$2,989,360	\$2,863,213

Included in other assets at March 31, 2011 are marketable securities. There were no marketable securities included in other assets at March 31, 2012. Our marketable equity securities were measured at fair value using quoted market prices. They were classified as Level 1, in accordance with the FASB ASC 820-10 hierarchy, as they trade in an active market for which closing stock prices are readily available. The cost basis of investments included in other assets at March 31, 2011 was \$428,769. The fair value of investments included in other assets at March 31, 2011 was \$255,496 resulting in an unrealized loss of \$174,571. As of March 31, 2011, approximately 99% of the (a)\$174,571 unrealized loss was in a continuous unrealized position for more than twelve months and relates to one issuer, Delta Air Lines ("Delta") (\$173,022 or 40% of cost). This security was principally acquired during 2007 and 2008. At March 31, 2011, we reviewed publicly available information on Delta and concluded that their underlying business was financially sound and continued to possess significant future earnings potential, and that it was likely that their stock price would eventually exceed our original cost. We also concluded that the market price decline in Delta of 40% as of March 31, 2011 was not extraordinary given their completion of integration with Northwest Airlines, economic and other airline industry conditions prevalent in 2011.

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

These investments in marketable equity securities primarily of companies in the airline industry were in an unrealized loss position for more than twelve months and were classified as available-for-sale and reported in the balance sheet at fair value. We review all investments for other-than-temporary impairment at least quarterly or as indicators of impairment exist. Indicators of impairment include the duration and severity of the decline in fair value as well as the intent and ability to hold the investment to allow for a recovery in the market value of the investment. In addition, we consider qualitative factors that include, but are not limited to: (i) the financial condition and business plans of the investee including its future earnings potential; (ii) the investee's credit rating; and (iii) the current and expected market and industry conditions in which the investee operates. If a decline in the fair value of an investment is deemed by management to be other-than-temporary, we write down the cost basis of the investment to fair value, and the amount of the write-down is included in net earnings. Such a determination is dependent on the facts and circumstances relating to each investment.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, we sold securities with a total cost basis of \$497,829 and \$92,275, respectively, for proceeds of \$329,871 and \$128,763, respectively, resulting in a gross realized loss of \$167,958 and gain of \$36,488, respectively, which are included in our statements of income and comprehensive income.

The net unrealized gain and loss on available for sale securities included in other comprehensive income/loss for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 was \$6,613 and \$126,048, respectively, net of tax. The reclassification adjustment included in other comprehensive income for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012 was \$167,958, net of tax. There were no material deferred tax benefits associated with the components of other comprehensive income.

The following table sets forth our marketable equity securities by level within the fair value hierarchy as of March 31, 2011:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

March 31, 2011:

Marketable equity securities - airline industry \$255,496 \$ — \$ — \$255,496

#### 6. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consist of the following:

	2012	2011
Payroll and related expenses Taxes and fees payable Accrued interest payable Other	\$5,343,982 486,726 7,339 685,023	\$6,022,642 681,332 22,677 616,891
Total	\$6,523,070	\$7,343,542

## 7. Borrowings

Short-term borrowings at March 31, 2012 and 2011 consist of the following:

	2012	2011
Line of credit Insurance financing	\$5,000,000 1,830,951	\$7,500,000 2,031,292
Total	\$6,830,951	\$9,531,292

On February 12, 2009, we entered into a \$20,000,000 credit facility (the "Credit Agreement") with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo"). This credit facility, which was amended in October 2011 (see below) matures in October 2016, contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including, among other things, covenants requiring us to maintain certain financial ratios and is collateralized by customer accounts receivable and certain other assets of the Company as defined in the Credit Agreement.

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

The Credit Agreement provides for a letter of credit sub-line in an aggregate amount of up to \$3,000,000. The Credit Agreement also provided for interest to be calculated on the outstanding principal balance of the revolving loans at the prime rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.50%. For LIBOR loans, interest was calculated on the outstanding principal balance of the LIBOR loans at the LIBOR rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2.75% (see below).

On October 18, 2011, we entered into an amendment (the "Amendment") to our Credit Agreement. The Amendment (i) extends the term of the \$20,000,000 Credit Agreement to October 2016, (ii) decreases the interest rate spreads on the outstanding principal balance of the revolving loans to LIBOR plus 1.75% and amends certain covenants including: (a) increasing the amount of capital expenditures that can be incurred in the aggregate during any fiscal year or in any one transaction and (b) permitting the Company to repurchase up to \$2,000,000 of its common stock subject to certain conditions.

As of March 31, 2012 and 2011, the interest rates were 2.00% and 3.125% for LIBOR loans, respectively. Closing costs for the Credit Agreement totaled \$314,706 and were amortized over the original three year term of the Credit Agreement which ended in February 2012.

As of March 31, 2012 and 2011, we had borrowed \$5,000,000 and \$7,500,000 in LIBOR loans and had approximately \$202,807 and \$181,770 under our letters of credit sub-line outstanding under the Credit Agreement, representing approximately 41% and 53% of the maximum borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement based on our "eligible accounts receivable" (as defined under the Credit Agreement) as of such dates, respectively.

We rely on our revolving loan from Wells Fargo, which contains a fixed charge covenant and various other financial and non-financial covenants. If we breach a covenant, Wells Fargo has the right to immediately request the repayment in full of all borrowings under the Credit Agreement, unless Wells Fargo waives the breach. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we were in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreement.

We may obtain short-term financing to meet our annual property and casualty insurance needs. For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, \$3,644,447 and \$3,724,035, respectively, was borrowed for this purpose at annual interest rates of 2.3% and 2.2%, respectively, for each year. At March 31, 2012 and 2011, we had \$1,830,951 and \$2,031,292, respectively, of short-term insurance borrowings outstanding. Such borrowings are collateralized by unearned premiums and dividends which may become payable under our insurance policies.

# 8. Income per Share

The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and the denominators of the basic and diluted per-share computations for net income for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011:

	Income (Numerator)	Shares (Denominator)	Per-Share Amount
Year ended March 31, 2012 Basic EPS Effect of dilutive shares:	\$140,760	10,703,881	\$ .01
Options issued August 2004, May 2005, September 2005, September 2006, April 2007, September 2007, January 2008, June 2008, September 2008, December 2008, April 2010, May 2010, July 2010, October 2010, March 2011, September 2011 and January 2012		94,860	
Diluted EPS	\$140,760	10,798,741	\$ .01
Year ended March 31, 2011 Basic EPS Effect of dilutive shares:	\$1,620,255	10,874,098	\$ .15
Options issued August 2004, May 2005, September 2005, September 2006, April 2007, September 2007, January 2008, June 2008, September 2008, December 2008, April 2010, May 2010, July 2010, October 2010 and March 2011		216,819	
Diluted EPS	\$1,620,255	11,090,917	\$ .15

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

#### 9. Retirement Plans

In November 1999, we adopted a qualified retirement plan providing for elective employee deferrals and discretionary employer contributions to non-highly compensated participants. The plan was amended to allow for employer matching of elective deferrals, for certain employees working under a specific customer contract, as defined. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we accrued or paid discretionary contributions of \$120,172. No discretionary amounts were accrued or paid for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. Our expense under this plan for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 amounted to \$128,454 and \$1,687, respectively.

#### 10. Concentrations of Credit Risk

Geographic concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are primarily in California with 37% and 35% and in the New York Metropolitan area with 34% and 33% of total receivables as of March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The remaining trade receivables consist of a large number of customers dispersed across many different geographic regions. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 we generated 40% and 45%, respectively, of our revenue from aviation and related services. Accounts receivables due from the commercial airline industry comprised 50% of net receivables as of March 31, 2012 and 2011. Our remaining customers are not concentrated in any specific industry except for a major express transportation company which accounts for approximately 14% and 24% of our accounts receivable and revenue, respectively. We maintain our cash accounts in bank deposit accounts, which at times may exceed federally insured limits. We have not experienced any losses in such accounts. Company management believes the risk of loss associated with these accounts to be remote. Approximately 20% of our workforce is subject to collective bargaining agreements of which approximately 23% are due to expire within one year as of March 31, 2012.

#### 11. Significant Customers

We operate as a provider of security officer services to a wide range of industries which we have categorized into three groups; security officer services, aviation services and support services. The latter includes revenues from back office support to police departments.

Net revenues for the groups noted above were as follows for the two years ended March 31:

	2012	2011
Security Officer Services	\$84,944,275	\$80,911,960
Aviation Services	56,413,527	65,374,490
Support Services	200,367	203,709

Total \$141,558,169 \$146,490,159

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, one security services customer accounted for approximately \$34,412,000 and \$30,367,000, respectively, of our total revenue.

#### 12. Insurance Reserves

We have an insurance policy covering workers' compensation claims in states where we perform services. Estimated accrued liabilities are based on our historical loss experience and the ratio of claims paid to our historical payout profiles. Charges for estimated workers' compensation related losses incurred and included in cost of sales were \$2,800,455 and \$2,561,114, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

The nature of our business also subjects us to claims or litigation alleging that we are liable for damages as a result of the conduct of our employees or others. We insure against such claims and suits through general liability policies with third-party insurance companies. Our insurance coverage limits are currently \$7,000,000 per occurrence for non-aviation related business (with an additional excess umbrella policy of \$10,000,000) and \$30,000,000 per occurrence for aviation related business. We retain the risk for the first \$25,000 per occurrence on the non-aviation related policy which includes airport wheelchair and electric cart operations, and \$5,000 on the aviation related policy except for \$25,000 for damage to aircraft and \$100,000 for skycap operations. Estimated accrued liabilities are based on specific reserves in connection with existing claims as determined by third party risk management consultants and actuarial factors and the timing of reported claims. These are all factored into estimated losses incurred but not yet reported to us.

Cumulative amounts estimated to be payable by us with respect to pending and potential claims for all years in which we are liable under our general liability retention and workers' compensation policies have been accrued as liabilities. Such accrued liabilities are necessarily based on estimates; accordingly, our ultimate liability may exceed or be less than the amounts accrued. The methods of making such estimates and establishing the resultant accrued liability are reviewed continually and any adjustments resulting therefrom are reflected in our current results of operations.

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

### 13. Contingencies

The nature of our business is such that there is a significant volume of routine claims and lawsuits that are made against us, the vast majority of which never lead to the award of substantial damages. We maintain general liability and workers' compensation insurance coverage that we believe is appropriate to the relevant level of risk and potential liability that we face relating to these matters. Some of the claims brought against us could result in significant payments; however, the exposure to us under general liability is limited to the first \$25,000 per occurrence on the non-aviation, airport wheelchair and electric cart operations related claims and \$5,000 per occurrence on the aviation related claims except \$25,000 for damage to aircraft and \$100,000 for skycap operations. Any punitive damage award would not be covered by the general liability insurance policy. The only other potential impact would be on future premiums, which may be adversely affected by an unfavorable claims history.

In addition to such cases, we have been named as a defendant in several uninsured employment related claims that are pending before various courts, the Equal Employment Opportunities Commission or various state and local agencies. We have instituted policies to minimize

these occurrences and monitor those that do occur. At this time, we are unable to determine the impact on the financial position and results of operations that these claims may have, should the investigations conclude that they are valid.

We have employment agreements with certain of our officers and key employees with terms which range from one to three years. The agreements generally provide for annual salaries and for salary continuation for a specified number of months under certain circumstances, including a change in control of the Company.

In connection with the bankruptcy proceedings of one of our customers, on April 11, 2012, a claim was filed against the Company in the United States Bankruptcy Court for Southern District of New York seeking the return of alleged preference payments made to the Company by the bankruptcy debtor in the amount of \$774,128. On May 17, 2012, the Company filed an answer and affirmative defenses. The Company intends to conduct a vigorous defense of this case.

### 14. Commitments

#### Lease

We are obligated under various operating lease agreements for office space, equipment and auto rentals. Rent expense under operating lease agreements approximated \$2,171,583 and \$2,145,274, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

We lease certain equipment and vehicles under agreements that are classified as capital leases. Most equipment leases have purchase options at the end of the original lease term. Cost and related accumulated depreciation of leased capital assets included in furniture and equipment at March 31, 2012 are \$875,082 and \$821,761 and at March 31, 2011 are \$875,082 and \$772,801, respectively.

There are no future minimum payments under long-term non-cancelable capital lease agreements. The future minimum payments under long-term non-cancelable operating lease agreements are as follows:

		Operating
		Leases
Year ending:	March 31, 2013	\$1,531,269
_	March 31, 2014	1,228,056
	March 31, 2015	719,782
	March 31, 2016	268,545
	March 31, 2017 and thereafter	1,494,582
Total		\$5,242,234

#### 15. Stock Option Plans and Warrants

In November 2000, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved the adoption of a qualified stock option plan. Under the stock option plan, substantially all employees are eligible to receive options to purchase up to an aggregate of 500,000 shares at an exercise price that cannot be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date the options are granted. In May 2010, options to purchase 205,000 shares of the Company's common stock were issued. No options may be granted under this plan after 2010. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, the Company received proceeds of \$8,100 in connection with the exercise of stock options to purchase 6,000 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of \$1.35 per share. The outstanding options are exercisable at any time before August 29, 2014, May 23, 2015 and May 26, 2020 at \$1.35, \$1.49 and \$2.40 per share, respectively.

**Command Security Corporation** 

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

In September 2005, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved the adoption of a qualified stock incentive plan. Under the stock incentive plan, substantially all employees of and consultants to, the Company, are eligible to receive options to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price that cannot be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date the options are granted. In September and April 2007, options to purchase 80,000 and 65,000 shares of the Company's common stock were issued. The vested outstanding options are exercisable at any time before December 30, 2018 at \$3.08 per share, September 28, 2018 at \$3.37 per share, September 17, 2018 at \$3.36 per share, September 19, 2017 at \$3.19 per share, April 11, 2017 at \$3.00 per share, September 19, 2016 at \$2.67 per share and September 21, 2015 at \$2.05 per share, respectively.

In September 2009, the Company's Board of Directors and stockholders approved the adoption of a qualified stock incentive plan. Under the stock incentive plan, substantially all employees of and consultants to, the Company, are eligible to receive options to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price that cannot be less than the fair market value of the shares on the date the options are granted. In April, May, July and October 2010, options to purchase 116,283, 120,000, 31,624 and 74,616 shares of the Company's common stock were issued, respectively. In March, June and September 2011, options to purchase 169,683, 109,553 and 120,000 shares of the Company's common stock were issued. In January 2012, options to purchase 600,000 shares of the Company's common stock were issued. The vested outstanding options are exercisable at any time before January 2, 2022 at \$1.45, \$2.30 and \$3.00 per share, September 12, 2021 at \$1.42 per share, June 8, 2021 at \$1.50 per share, October 20, 2020 at \$2.01 per share, May 26, 2020 at \$2.40 per share, December 30, 2018 at \$3.08 per share, June 21, 2014 at \$1.60 per share, March 22, 2014 at \$1.85 per share, October 18, 2013 at \$2.05 per share, July 8, 2013 at \$2.11 per share and April 14, 2013 at \$2.59 per share, respectively.

On August 30, 2004 (the "Effective Date"), the Company issued stock options to its President and former Chief Operating Officer (the "Executive") to purchase 500,000 shares of the Company's common stock at an exercise price of \$1.35 per share. The options became fully vested during August 2007. The vested outstanding options are exercisable at any time before August 29, 2014.

Certain of the option and warrant agreements contain anti-dilution adjustment clauses.

A summary of activity related to all Company stock option activity for the years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

	Options Exercise Price	Number of Shares
Outstanding at March 31, 2010	\$.75 - 3.37	1,670,200
Issued Forfeited Exercised	1.85 - 2.59 .75 - 3.36 1.35	717,206 (291,000 ) (6,000 )
Outstanding at March 31, 2011	1.35 - 3.37	2,090,406
Issued Forfeited	1.42 - 3.00 2.40 - 3.36	829,553 (159,871 )
Outstanding at March 31, 2012	\$1.35 - \$3.37	2,760,088

At March 31, 2012 there were 2,760,088 options outstanding exercisable at prices ranging from \$1.35 to \$3.37 and 3,271,918 shares reserved for issuance under all stock arrangements. At March 31, 2012, there was \$163,643 of total unrecognized compensation expense from stock-based compensation granted under the plans, which is related to non-vested options. The compensation expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted average vesting period of 1.75 years.

Significant option groups outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2012 and the related weighted average exercise price and life information are as follows:

		Weighted	Weighted
		Average	Average
Options	Options	Exercise	Remaining
Outstanding	Exercisable	Price	Life (years)
2.780.088	2.063.421	\$ 2.22	6.01
	Outstanding	Outstanding Exercisable	Options Options Exercise Outstanding Exercisable Price

### **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

The weighted average estimated values of stock options granted during fiscal 2012 and 2011 were \$.29 - \$.36 and \$.42 - \$.49, respectively. The weighted average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows:

	2012	2011
Risk-free interest rate	0.91 - 1.12%	0.5 - 1.62%
Years until exercise	3.00 - 5.00	3.00
Volatility	26.0 - 30.6%	30.3 - 32.6%
Dividend yield	0.00%	0.00%
Termination rate	n/a	n/a

FASB ASC 718, *Stock Compensation*, requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values at grant date and the recognition of the related expense over the period in which the share-based compensation vest. The Company uses the modified-prospective transition method. Under the modified-prospective method, the Company recognizes compensation expense in the financial statements for all share-based payments granted, modified or settled.

The Company recorded total stock based compensation costs of \$160,730 and \$467,526 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

### 16. Income Taxes

Net provision for income taxes for the fiscal years ended March 31 consists of the following:

	2012	2011
Current:		
Federal	\$663,000	\$1,271,000
State and local	142,000	271,000
	805,000	1,542,000

Deferred:

Federal (320,000) (100,000) State and local (70,000) (26,000) (390,000) (126,000)

Net provision for income taxes \$415,000 \$1,416,000

The differences (expressed as a percentage of pretax income) between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate as reflected in the accompanying statements of income are as follows:

	2012	2011
Statutory federal income tax rate	34.0	34.0
State and local income taxes	7.3	7.3
Permanent differences	46.1	4.3
Other	(12.7)	1.0
Effective tax rate	74.7 %	46.6%

### **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

	2012	2011
Current deferred tax assets:		
Accounts receivable	\$240,344	\$126,892
Accrued expenses	180,513	165,040
Net current deferred tax assets	\$420,857	\$291,932
Non-current deferred tax assets (liabilities):		
Equipment	\$(142.242.)	\$(164,104)
• •		
Intangible assets	264,129	177,964
Self-insurance	237,799	296,919
Workers compensation reserve	1,408,677	1,304,203
Capital loss carryforward	69,299	
Employee stock compensation	470,514	501,964
Net non-current deferred tax assets	2,308,175	2,116,946
Total deferred tax assets	\$2,729,032	\$2,408,878

At March 31, 2012, we have available a capital loss carryforward in the amount of \$167,958 which will expire if unused by fiscal 2017. We have determined based on our expectations for the future that it is more likely than not that future taxable income will be sufficient to utilize fully the net deferred tax assets at March 31, 2012 and 2011.

Fiscal years 2009 through 2012 remain subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities with certain states having open tax years beginning in fiscal 2008.

### 17. Related Party Transactions

Each of our non-employee directors receives from us an annual cash fee of \$18,000, paid quarterly in arrears. In addition, effective as of December 2008, our Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the Compensation Committee receive an additional cash payment of \$5,000 per annum. Non-employee directors

are also paid \$1,000 per meeting attended of the board and certain of its committees. Effective October 1, 2011, the annual cash fee was increased to \$28,000, the fee for meetings attended was eliminated and annual stock option awards were increased to 25,000 options per fiscal year with an additional 10,000 options for chairpersons of the Audit and Compensation Committees of the Board.

Rent expense related to an affiliate principally owned by certain directors of the Company totaled \$60,000 for fiscal years ended March 31, 2012 and 2011. The rent expense was derived from a month to month lease which terminated in April 2012. In addition, we paid brokerage commissions and fees related to our stock repurchase plan to an affiliate principally owned by certain directors of the Company totaling \$24,282 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.

### 18. Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2012, we repurchased shares of our common stock having a value of \$1,975,226 pursuant to our share repurchase program. The number and average price of shares purchased in December 2011 and February 2012 are set forth in the table below:

Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Program		C	Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Program
renou	Fait of Flogram	га	iu pei Silare	Olider the Program
Dec. 8 – 16, 2011 Feb. 13 – 21, 2012	136,600 1,075,000	\$	1.52 1.64	\$ 1,791,764 24,774
Total	1,211,600	\$	1.63	

Under our stock repurchase program, we can repurchase up to \$2,000,000 of our common stock on the open market. The par value of the shares repurchased is charged to common stock with the excess of the purchase price over par being charged against additional paid-in capital. Shares repurchased during December 2011 have been retired. Shares repurchased during February 2012 are being held in treasury. The program does not have a prescribed expiration date.

## **Command Security Corporation**

Notes to Financial Statements, Continued March 31, 2012 and 2011

### 19. Reclassifications

As a result of our adoption of accounting guidance related to the presentation of comprehensive income in financial statements, and to maintain consistency and conformity, certain amounts from previously reported financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These reclassifications did not have a material impact on our previously reported financial statements.

## Schedule II

## COMMAND SECURITY CORPORATION

# SCHEDULE OF VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

	Balance at Beginning of Period	Additions (Reductions) Charged or Credited to Expenses	Against Amounts Due to Administrative Service Clients	Charged to Other Accounts	Deductions from Reserve	Balance at End of Period
Year ended March 31, 2012: Deducted from asset accounts: Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable - current maturities	\$306,469	\$ 227,571	\$ —	\$172,429	\$(123,959)	\$582,510
Year ended March 31, 2011: Deducted from asset accounts: Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable - current maturities	1,167,437	198,871	(79,640 )	140,648	(1,120,847)	306,469

See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

# **End of Filing**